RECEIVED

Jun 12 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Daniel Coble, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2025-001658

---

Linda Plaag and Robert Plaag, ..... Respondents,

v.

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Whether the circuit court erred in finding that Appellants, as non-signatories, could not compel arbitration even though the circuit court found that Respondents entered into a valid and enforceable arbitration agreement that covers the exact same claims asserted by Respondents against other defendants.
2. Whether the trial court erred by failing to determine that Appellants did not waive their right to compel arbitration.



## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal arises from the circuit court’s Order denying the Appellants’ motion to compel arbitration. The Appellants are Charles Oliver, Leanna Oliver, Davis Oliver, Strategic Equity Energy a Series of V360 Holdings LLC, Strategic Equity Path, LP, Strategic Equity Path, GP, Strategic Equity Technology a Series of V360 Holdings LLC, Strategic Equity Technology LLC, Strategic Equity Technology Management LLC, Hidden Wealth Management LLC, Alternative Wealth Solutions, LLC, The Institute of Financial Enrichment, LLC, Strategic Retirement Solutions, LLC, American Equity Investment Advisors, LLC, Innovative Medical Enterprises, LLC, CDO Enterprises, Inc., Event Labels LLC, Oliver Heritage, LLC, KTF, LLC, Strategic Equity Partners, LLC, Moving Future, LLC, Incredible Concepts, LLC, Upside Solutions, LLC, Oliver Avery and Bryant LLC, ERP LLC, GITW, LLC, Legacy of Faith LP, and Legacy of Faith Trust (collectively, “Appellants”). The court denied the motion (1) despite finding a valid and enforceable arbitration agreement exists which requires Respondents to arbitrate their claims against defendants Foundations Investment Advisors, LLC and Devin Patel, (2) despite the agreement delegating gateway issues, including arbitrability, to the arbitrator, and (3) despite the arbitration provision plainly encompassing the claims asserted against Appellants. The court refused to compel arbitration of the claims against Appellants on the ground that they did not offer “admissible evidence” of a separate agreement between them and Respondents. This appeal follows.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

An appeal from the denial of a motion to compel is subject to de novo review. *See Sanders v. Savannah Highway Auto. Co.*, 440 S.C. 377, 383, 892 S.E.2d 112, 115 (2023) (citing *Chassereau v. Global-Sun Pools, Inc.*, 363 S.C. 628, 631, 611 S.E.2d 305, 307 (Ct. App. 2005)). Whether litigation conduct amounts to waiver of the right to arbitrate is also a legal conclusion

reviewed de novo. *See Liberty Builders, Inc. v. Horton*, 336 S.C. 658, 664, 521 S.E.2d 749, 753 (Ct. App. 1999).

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

This appeal concerns Appellants' ability to compel arbitration of Respondents' claims against them, where the trial court already compelled arbitration of the same exact claims against other defendants and where Respondents' expressly allege that all defendants, acting together, caused Respondents' to suffer damages. The arbitration provision itself and the law require that the arbitrator determine whether Appellants are entitled to arbitration of Respondents' claims. Regardless, even if this Court addresses the arbitrability of Respondents' claims, the result is the same. Even as non-signatories to the agreement containing the arbitration provision, Appellants are clearly entitled to compel arbitration under the facts of this case. The circuit court's ruling, which would result in piecemeal litigation of the exact same claims was error. As detailed below, this Court should find that Appellants are entitled to compel arbitration.

#### **I. RESPONDENTS' ALLEGATIONS**

The Respondents, Linda Plaag and Robert Plaag ("Respondents"), filed this action against Foundations Investment Advisors, LLC ("FIA"), Devin Patel, and Appellants, alleging that FIA and certain defendants played various roles in encouraging Respondents to place their assets in "investments which were either highly risky, unprofitable, improper, and/or plainly fraudulent." (Compl. ¶ 66; R. p. 36). The Complaint alleges Charles "Chuck" Oliver founded The Hidden Wealth Solution, which provides advisory services through The Institute of Financial Enrichment, LLC and Hidden Wealth Management, LLC, and that The Hidden Wealth Solution operates as an affiliate of FIA within FIA's "network of affiliated offices." (Compl. ¶¶ 1, 7, 15 and 26; R. pp. 21, 23, 24, and 26). To that point, the Complaint states that FIA provides financial advisory services through "a network of affiliated offices[,] including The Hidden Wealth Solution." (*Id.* ¶

15; R. p. 24). Respondents further allege Devin Patel is a licensed investment advisor with FIA and a “pass-through” advisor for The Hidden Wealth Solution. (Compl. ¶ 15; R. p. 24). Central to Respondents’ theory, the Complaint pleads:

At all times relevant to this case, Charles Oliver, Leanna Oliver, Davis Oliver, and Devin Patel were agents, representatives, and/or employees of The Hidden Wealth Solution and/or [FIA]. All their actions, inactions, omissions, and wrongdoing were performed for and on behalf of The Hidden Wealth Solution or [FIA] in the course and scope of their agency and/or employment. Therefore, in addition to Charles Oliver, Leanna Oliver, Davis Oliver, and Devin Patel’s personal liability for their own actions, inactions, and omissions, The Hidden Wealth Solution and [FIA] are individually, jointly, severally, and totally liable for the mismanagement, misconduct, wrongdoing, actions and/or omissions of Charles Oliver, Leanna Oliver, Davis Oliver, and Devin Patel under agency law and common law principles of *respondeat superior*.

(*Id.* ¶ 45; R. p. 29). The Complaint also alleges that “neither [Chuck Oliver], [Devin] Patel, nor [FIA], drew any line between which activities were conducted under [FIA] and which were under The Hidden Wealth Solution only.” (*Id.* ¶ 63; R. p. 35).

Respondents’ Complaint refers to the remaining defendants as the “Fund Defendants”<sup>1</sup> and the “Oliver Family Asset Defendants.”<sup>2</sup> (*Id.* ¶¶ 23 and 44; R. pp. 25 and 29). As to the Fund Defendants, the Complaint states: “At all times relevant to this case, Charles Oliver, Leanna Oliver, and Davis Oliver were agents, representatives, and/or employees of the Fund Defendants. All their actions, inactions, omissions, and wrongdoing were performed for and on behalf of the Fund Defendants in the course and scope of their agency and/or employment.” (*Id.* ¶ 46; R. p. 30).

---

<sup>1</sup> The Complaint refers to Alternative Wealth Solutions, LLC, Strategic Equity Technology Management LLC, Strategic Equity Energy a Series of V360 Holdings LLC, Strategic Equity Technology LLC, Strategic Equity Technology a Series of V360 Holdings LLC, Strategic Equity Path, LP, Strategic Equity Path, GP as the “Fund Defendants.” (*Id.* ¶ 23; R. p. 25).

<sup>2</sup> Oliver Avery and Bryant LLC, ERP LLC, Strategic Retirement Solutions, LLC, Moving Future, LLC, Incredible Concepts, LLC, Upside Solutions, LLC, GITW, LLC, American Equity Investment Advisors, LLC, CDO Enterprises, Inc., Oliver Heritage, LLC, KTF, LLC, Strategic Equity Partners, LLC, Legacy of Faith LP, and Legacy of Faith Trust are referred to as the Oliver Family Asset Defendants. (*Id.* ¶ 44; R. p. 29).

As to the Oliver Family Asset Defendants, the Complaint claims that the Oliver Family Asset Defendants “along with the Fund Defendants and The Hidden Wealth Solution, operate indistinguishably from one another under the complete and absolute control of Chuck, Leanna, and Davis Oliver.” (*Id.* ¶ 44; R. p. 29). Plaintiffs claim, “the Oliver Family Asset Defendants serve no legal purpose and exist only to shield the Oliver Family’s assets from creditors, including defrauded investors like [Respondents].” (*Id.* ¶ 2; R. p. 22).

Respondents’ Complaint asserts claims for (1) breach of fiduciary duty; (2) aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty; (3) violation of the South Carolina Uniform Securities Act of 2005; (4) violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act; (5) fraud in the inducement, actual fraud, and constructive fraud; (6) fraudulent concealment; (7) negligent misrepresentation; (8) civil conspiracy; (9) breach of contract; (10) breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act; (11) quantum meruit/unjust enrichment; and (12) single business enterprise/alter ego/piercing the corporate veil/joint venture. (*Id.* ¶¶ 83 – 163; R. pp. 40 – 55). Underlying these causes of action, Respondents allege that all “Defendants” engaged in a common scheme to defraud Respondents. By way of example, the Complaint claims, “Defendants combined and agreed for the purpose of committing the acts and omissions described in the Causes of Action set forth in this complaint” and “Defendants took overt acts in furtherance of this conspiracy as also described in [the] complaint.” (*Id.* ¶¶ 137 – 138; R. p. 50).

## **II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY**

Respondents filed this action on November 27, 2024. Appellants accepted service of the Complaint on January 17, 2025. On February 14, 2025, Defendants Charles Oliver, Patel, and The Institute of Financial Enrichment, LLC filed an Answer. The remaining Appellants moved to dismiss Respondents’ Complaint for lack of personal jurisdiction and failure to state a claim. On February 26, 2025, FIA moved to compel arbitration based upon the IAR Investment Advisory

Agreement between FIA and Respondents (“FIA Agreement”). (FIA’s Motion to Dismiss or Stay, Including Discovery, and to Compel Arbitration; R. p. 80). Thereafter, on April 7, 2025, Appellants and Patel filed their Motion to Compel Arbitration, joining FIA’s motion and also seeking to compel arbitration pursuant to the arbitration provision within the FIA Agreement. (Appellants and Patel’s Motion to Compel Arbitration; R. p. 105).

The circuit court heard the motions to compel arbitration on July 8, 2025. In an Order entered on July 29, 2025, the circuit court granted the motion as to FIA and Patel only—finding “there is a valid and enforceable arbitration agreement between [FIA] and [Respondents] which covers this dispute” and “that the arbitration agreement covers claims against [Patel].” (Order at \*3 – 4; R. pp. 8 – 9). The circuit court also ruled that the arbitrator would decide any dispute over the applicable rules of arbitration. (*Id.*). As to Appellants, the circuit court denied the motion to compel arbitration, finding:

there is no agreement between [Appellants] and [Respondents]. [Appellants] instead argue that they fall within [FIA’s] arbitration agreement, which extends to [FIA’s] ‘representatives, directors, officers, employees, and agents.’ But [Appellants] offer no evidence that they are representatives, directors, officers, employees, or agents of [FIA]. They simply point to allegations in [Respondents’] complaint to that effect.

(Order at \*5; R. p. 10). The circuit court noted that the denial as to Appellants was “without prejudice as discovery may alter [the circuit court’s] ruling.” (*Id.* at \*6; R. p. 11).<sup>3</sup> On August 8, 2025, Appellants timely filed a motion to alter or amend pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP. (Appellants’ Motion to Alter or Amend; R. p. 350). That motion was denied by a Form 4 Order on August 13, 2025. (Form 4 Order on Appellants’ Motion to Alter or Amend; R. p. 16). Appellants timely filed this appeal on August 18, 2025. (Appellants’ Notice of Appeal; R. p. 436).

---

<sup>3</sup> The circuit court also denied the Rule 12(b)(2) motion to dismiss filed by Leanna Oliver, Davis Oliver, Hidden Wealth Management, American Equity Advisory Group, the Fund Defendants, and the Oliver Family Asset Defendants. (Order, at \*7 – 8; R. pp. 12 – 13). That denial is not at issue in this appeal.

## **ARGUMENT**

Despite the circuit court finding the FIA Agreement's arbitration provision is valid and enforceable and finding that it covers the claims asserted by Respondents against FIA and Patel, the circuit court denied Appellants' motion to compel arbitration. The circuit court's ruling as to Appellants was in error. First, the language of the arbitration provision and its incorporation of the American Arbitration Association ("AAA Rules") requires that an arbitrator, not the court, decide "gateway issues", including whether Respondents' claims against Appellants are subject to arbitration. Regardless, even if this Court addresses issues of arbitrability, Respondents' claims against Appellants are subject to arbitration. Finally, Defendants have not waived the right to arbitration. For these reasons, as more fully set forth below, Appellants respectfully request that this Court reverse the circuit court's Order and direct that the matter proceed to arbitration.

### **I. APPELLANTS ARE ENTITLED TO COMPEL ARBITRATION OF ALL DISPUTES IN THIS MATTER, INCLUDING GATEWAY ISSUES OF ARBITRABILITY.**

#### ***A. The Circuit Court Correctly Found a Valid and Enforceable Arbitration Provision, Which Covers This Dispute Exists.***

The FIA Agreement's arbitration provision requires Respondents to arbitrate:

*all claims or controversies, and any related issues, which may arise at any time between the Parties (including FIA's representatives, directors, officers, employees, and agents) concerning any investment or planning advice, recommendation, or exercise of limited discretionary authority with respect to any subject matter, any transaction or order, the conduct of FIA or its representatives, directors, officers, employees, and agents [,] the construction, performance, or breach of this or any other agreement between the Parties, whether entered into prior to, on, or subsequent to the date of this Agreement the breach of any common law or statutory duty or the violation of any federal or state law of any nature shall be resolved by binding arbitration rather than by a lawsuit in a court of law or equity.*

(FIA Agreement ¶ 15.b.; R. p. 101). Significantly, the arbitration provision also expressly states, "[a]ny arbitration pursuant to this Agreement shall be in accordance with, and governed by, the Code of Commercial Arbitration of the [AAA Rules]." (See FIA Agreement ¶ 15.c.; R. p. 101).

The circuit court correctly held this provision is enforceable and that it covers the claims asserted by Respondents.<sup>4</sup> To that point, the circuit court’s Order plainly states that “there is a valid and enforceable arbitration agreement between [FIA] and [Respondents] which covers this dispute.” (Order at \* 3; R. p. 8). Thus, unlike other arbitration cases, this case presents “no...risk of sending a party to arbitration when that party *never* agreed to arbitration.” *Sanders v. Savannah Highway Auto. Co.*, 440 S.C. 377, 391, 892 S.E.2d 112, 119 (2023) (emphasis in original). Here, it is undisputed that Respondents agreed to arbitrate the types of claims asserted in the lawsuit.

***B. The FIA Agreement Delegates Questions of Arbitrability, Including the Question of Whether Appellants Can Enforce the Arbitration Provision Against Respondents, to the Arbitrator.***

The fundamental question at the outset of this case is whether Appellants, as non-signatories to the FIA Agreement, can also compel Respondents’ claims to arbitration. However, “[w]hen one party challenges another party’s right to invoke an arbitration provision, the gateway question sometimes becomes: Does the court or the arbitrator decide whether the dispute is arbitrable?” *Id.* 440 S.C. at 383-84, 892 S.E.2d at 115 (citing *Peabody Holding Co. v. United Mine Workers of Am., Int’l Union*, 665 F.3d 96, 101 (4th Cir. 2012)). That question presents itself in

---

<sup>4</sup> The application of the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”) in this matter cannot be disputed. “[T]he FAA applies in federal or state court to any arbitration agreement regarding a transaction that in fact involves interstate commerce, regardless of whether or not the parties contemplated an interstate transaction.” *Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 538, 542 S.E.2d 360, 363 (2001). The FIA Agreement and relationship between Respondents, FIA, and Appellants clearly involve and affect interstate commerce. First, as is clearly stated in the FIA Agreement (and the Complaint), FIA is an Arizona limited liability company. (FIA Agreement preamble; R. p. 99; *see also* Compl. ¶ 15; R. p. 24). Plaintiffs are “citizens and residents of Richland County, South Carolina.” (Compl. ¶ 4; R. p. 22). Defendant Devin Patel, who executed the FIA Agreement on behalf of FIA, is alleged to be “a citizen and resident of Lake County, Florida.” (Compl. ¶ 12; R. p. 100). Appellants Chuck Oliver, Leanna Oliver, and Davis Oliver are alleged to be “citizen[s] and resident[s] of Mecklenburg County, North Carolina.” (Compl. ¶¶ 5, 8, 10 and 45; R. pp. 22, 23, and 29). The business dealings among the parties crossed state lines, and therefore, involved interstate commerce. Appellants cannot reasonably argue that its dealing with entities and individuals from three states outside of South Carolina does not affect interstate commerce. *See Am. Home Assurance Co. v. Vecco Concrete Constr. Co.*, 629 F.2d 961, 963 (4th Cir. 1980) (holding that a contract between a Delaware corporation and Virginia corporation established a sufficient interstate nexus to satisfy the FAA).



this case. Here, the arbitrator, as opposed to the court, should decide whether Respondents' claims against Appellants are subject to arbitration. The circuit court erred in reaching and purporting to decide this issue.

“[A]rbitration is a matter of contract, and courts must enforce arbitration contracts according to their terms.” *Henry Schein, Inc. v. Archer and White Sales, Inc.*, 586 U.S. 63, 67, 139 S. Ct. 524, 202 L. Ed. 2d 480 (2019). “[A]n ‘agreement to arbitrate a gateway issue is simply an additional, antecedent agreement the party seeking arbitration asks the court to enforce, and the FAA operates on this additional arbitration agreement just as it does on any other.” *Id.* at 68, 139 S. Ct. 524 (quoting *Rent-A-Ctr., West, Inc. v. Jackson*, 561 U.S. 63, 70, 130 S. Ct. 2772 (2010)). “The FAA presumes parties intend that the court, rather than an arbitrator, will decide ‘gateway’ issues related to arbitration, including whether the arbitration agreement is valid and enforceable and whether it covers the parties’ dispute.” *Doe v. TCSC, LLC*, 430 S.C. 602, 608, 846 S.E.2d 874, 877 (Ct. App. 2020). “The parties may, of course, delegate these gateway issues to the arbitrator as long as there is ‘clear and unmistakable’ evidence of such delegation.” *Id.* “[I]f a valid agreement exists, and if the agreement delegates the arbitrability issue to an arbitrator, a court may not decide the arbitrability issue.” *Henry Schein, Inc.*, 586 U.S. at 69, 139 S. Ct. 524. “Where, as here, a contract that is subject to the FAA contains a delegation clause, federal law governs whether the clause provides ‘clear and unmistakable’ evidence that the parties agreed to delegate questions of arbitrability. *See Blanton v. Domino's Pizza Franchising, LLC*, 962 F.3d 842, 846-47(6th Cir. 2020).

Pursuant to the FIA Agreement, Plaintiffs “waiv[ed] their right to seek remedies in court” and agreed that “all claims or controversies, **and any related issues...** shall be resolved by binding arbitration rather than by a lawsuit in a court of law or equity.” (FIA Agreement ¶ 15.b.; R. p.

101). In addition, the FIA Agreement states that “claims or controversies ... concerning the...**construction**, performance, or breach of [the FIA Agreement]...” would be decided by the arbitrator, not the court. (*Id.* (emphasis added)). The language of the FIA Agreement delegating gateway issues is clear and unmistakable.

Regardless, when like here, parties incorporate the AAA Rules, courts have found it to be clear and unmistakable evidence of the parties’ intent to arbitrate arbitrability that parties intended to delegate arbitrability issues to an arbitrator. *See 315 Corley CW LLC v. Palmetto Bluff Dev., LLC*, 444 S.C. 521, 530, 908 S.E.2d 892, 896 (Ct. App. 2024) (recognizing reference to AAA Commercial Arbitration Rules delegates gateway issues of arbitrability to the arbitrator); *NLM Servs., LLC v. K1 Speed Franchising, Inc.*, No. 9:23-CV-1777-RMG, 2023 WL 11887252, at \*3 (D.S.C. June 27, 2023) (holding incorporation of the AAA Rules “clearly and unmistakably delegates the arbitrability question to an arbitrator.”). The AAA Commercial Rules,<sup>5</sup> which Respondents expressly agreed would govern any disputes, unquestionably give the arbitrator authority to decide the “gateway questions” relevant in this case. Rule 7(a) of the AAA Commercial Rules provides: “The arbitrator shall have the power to rule on his or her own jurisdiction, including any objections with respect to the existence, scope, or validity of the arbitration agreement or to the arbitrability of any claim or counterclaim, without any need to refer such matters first to a court.” Rule 7(b) of the AAA Commercial Rules states: “The arbitrator shall have the power to determine the existence or validity of a contract of which an arbitration clause forms a part.”

“[C]ourts frequently and consistently find that when the arbitration provision incorporates arbitration rules, including the commercial rules of the American Arbitration Association..., there

---

<sup>5</sup> The AAA Commercial Rules are available at <https://adr.org/industries/commercial/>.

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