THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Daniel Coble, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001658

Linda Plaag and Robert Plaag,..... Respondents,

v.

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

Appellants therefore ask this Court to do what courts across the country refuse: compel arbitration based on a contract which they deny applies to them. They submitted no affidavits, corporate records, contracts, agency agreements, employment records, organizational documents, or sworn testimony demonstrating that Appellants are agents or representatives of Foundations who can enforce the arbitration agreement. And when the Plaags sought this evidence through discovery, Appellants refused to produce it. *See generally* R. pp. 220–307. Appellants instead rely exclusively on allegations in the complaint which Chuck and the Institute of Financial Enrichment

denied.⁶ Compare R. pp. 24, 29–30, 35, 51, 55, *with* pp. 62, 66, 68–69, 74, 75. While the remaining Appellants did not formally answer the complaint, their motion to dismiss made plain that they also dispute any connection to Foundations. *E.g.*, R. p. 113 (arguing there is no factual or legal basis to allege that Davis and Leanna Oliver assisted Chuck with his scheme); p. 114 n.2 (arguing that including the Oliver Family Asset Defendants as alter egos violates Rule 11 and the Frivolous Civil Proceedings Sanctions Act); *see also id.* nn.2–3 (Oliver and The Institute of Financial Enrichment arguing that these allegations are sanctionable). Appellants also are united in their refusal to produce extrinsic evidence of any such relationship. *See* R. pp. 220–307.

Nor will Appellants ever concede that this evidence exists. For strategic reasons, they will always deny those allegations, even in any arbitration. So they want to compel arbitration because they are agents or representatives of Foundations but then defend the arbitration on the basis that they were *not* agents or representatives of Foundations. Appellants cannot have it both ways. Because they picked their path of denying the agreement, they cannot compel arbitration under it.

The record therefore contains no evidence of an agreement to arbitrate claims between the Plaags and Appellants. The circuit court did not err in denying Appellants’ motion.

B. Appellants’ arguments to avoid their burden are unpreserved and meritless.

Appellants fall back on a stack of arguments which they believe will avoid their burden. None has merit.

⁶ Appellants’ contention that they properly denied legal conclusions rings hollow. *See* Appellants’ Br. at 18–20. Of all the allegations at issue, Appellants only objected to one as calling for legal conclusions. *Supra* pp. 7–10. It did not call for legal conclusions—it appropriately alleged facts. And Appellants denied the allegation anyway. *Id.* Further, Appellants still bore the burden of coming forward with *affirmative* admissible evidence that they are Foundations’ agents or representatives. The denials simply complete the picture: they show not only that Appellants offered no proof, but that they affirmatively disclaimed the relationship.

1. Appellants' denial that they are representatives or agents of Foundations precludes applying equitable estoppel against the Plaags.

Appellants argue there are three paths by which they, as nonsignatories, can enforce Foundations' agreement: (1) agency, (2) veil piercing/alter ego, and (3) estoppel. Appellants' Br. at 17. This appeal is the first time that Appellants raise agency and veil piercing as standalone grounds to compel arbitration. Those arguments therefore are not preserved. *Doe v. Roe*, 369 S.C. 351, 375–76, 631 S.E.2d 317, 330 (Ct. App. 2006). At bottom, however, these arguments flow directly into Appellants' estoppel argument: the Plaags alleged agency and alter ego, so the court should estop them from denying it now. The circuit court correctly rejected that argument.

Whether estoppel applies to an arbitration agreement is a question of state law. *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 336, 827 S.E.2d 167, 173 (2019). A state cannot have special estoppel rules for arbitration agreements that do not apply to other contracts. *Morgan*, 596 U.S. at 418 (“[A] court must hold a party to its arbitration contract just as a court would to any other kind” and it “may not devise novel rules to favor arbitration over litigation.”); *see also id.* (“If an ordinary procedural rule—whether of waiver or forfeiture or what-have-you—would counsel against enforcement of an arbitration contract, then so be it.”); *Prima Paint Corp. v. Flood & Conklin Mfg.*, 388 U.S. 395, 404 n.12 (1967) (holding that a state cannot “elevate [arbitration agreements] over other forms of contracts”).

To begin, this Court need not reach the specifics of estoppel because it equally applies to Appellants if it applies to the Plaags. Appellants are bound by their denials that they are not agents or representatives of Foundations. *Postal*, 308 S.C. at 387, 418 S.E.2d at 323. The crux of the arbitration estoppel rule is that a party should not be able to rely on a contract to claim its benefits but deny its burdens. *Pearson v. Hilton Head Hosp.*, 400 S.C. 281, 290–91, 733 S.E.2d 597, 601–02

(Ct. App. 2012). That means Appellants cannot claim the benefits of Foundations’ agreement (for them, arbitration) but reject its burdens (the liability which flows from it). These competing estoppel arguments neutralize each other. *Operis Grp.*, 973 So. 2d at 489–90. As a result, whether a contract exists remains a question for the court to determine. *Id.*

In any event, the Plaags are not estopped from requiring that Appellants meet their burden. Under South Carolina law, equitable estoppel is a theory designed to prevent injustice which should be used sparingly. *Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 345, 827 S.E.2d at 177 (citing *Hirsch v. Amper Fin. Servs., LLC*, 215 N.J. 174, 180, 71 A.3d 849, 852 (2013)). It should not be used as “a sword to compel arbitration.” *Id.* (citing *Hirsch*, 215 N.J. at 180, 71 A.3d at 852). Equitable estoppel has a familiar series of elements which Appellants do not address in their brief. See *Strickland v. Strickland*, 375 S.C. 76, 84–85, 650 S.E.2d 465, 470 (2007) (stating the elements of equitable estoppel). Instead, Appellants rely on *Pearson*, which sets forth a different—and more permissive—test for estoppel when it comes to arbitration agreements. Appellants’ Br. at 20–23. The *Pearson* rule was grounded, at least in part, in the now-rejected policy in favor of arbitration. See *Pearson*, 400 S.C. at 295, 733 S.E.2d at 604 (“Otherwise the arbitration proceedings between the two signatories would be rendered meaningless and the federal policy in favor of arbitration effectively thwarted.”) (quotation omitted). This Court should hold that the traditional estoppel test applies and not the special formulation developed for arbitration.⁷ Because Appellants did not

⁷ The Supreme Court applied *Pearson* in *Wilson* and concluded that estoppel did not apply under that test. *Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 338–45, 827 S.E.2d at 174–78. The Court decided *Wilson* before the U.S. Supreme Court’s decision in *Morgan* underscoring that courts “may not devise novel rules to favor arbitration over litigation” and before our Supreme Court’s pronouncement in *Palmetto Construction Group* that “[t]here is ... no public policy—federal or state—‘favoring’ arbitration.” Because these newer decisions forbid the use of a special estoppel test for arbitration, this Court can recognize that the arbitration-specific estoppel rule is no longer valid.

meet the traditional test, and do not even argue that test here, the Court should affirm the circuit court's finding.

Appellants' estoppel argument still fails even if *Pearson* applies. The Plaags did not deny the existence of a contract—Appellants did. Asking the court to put Appellants to their proof given their denials is not inconsistent with the Plaags' allegations. *See Sandvik*, 220 F.3d at 109 (“Sandvik’s fundamental position is not similarly at war with itself. Sandvik maintains that the underlying contract is valid, but asserts that the validity of the arbitration clause must first be found by the District Court before the matter can be referred to the arbitrators. This argument does not require Sandvik to make any evidentiary proffers that are opposed to its underlying position in the controversy.”). Requiring such proof instead simply carries out the FAA’s mandate that courts determine whether an agreement exists. *Id.* Because Appellants refused to provide any evidence, they failed to meet their burden and the analysis ends.

Also, a nonsignatory may be estopped from avoiding arbitration only when the claim arises from the contractual relationship, the nonsignatory has exploited the contract by reaping its benefits, and the claim relies solely on the contract terms to impose liability. *Weaver*, 431 S.C. at 230, 847 S.E.2d at 272. The Plaags’ claims against Appellants do not arise solely from the Foundations agreement. The complaint asserts claims for breach of fiduciary duty, aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty, securities violations, SCUTPA violations, fraud, concealment, negligent misrepresentation, civil conspiracy, unjust enrichment, and veil piercing, in addition to contract claims. R. pp. 40–55. Those claims arise from alleged common-law and statutory duties, from the private placement transactions themselves, and from Appellants’ own alleged misconduct. The Plaags’ complaint therefore does not meet the *Pearson* test.

The Supreme Court's decision in *S.C. Public Service Authority v. Great Western Coal (Ky.)*, *Inc.*, 312 S.C. 559, 437 S.E.2d 22 (1993), is not to the contrary. *Great Western* prevented artful pleading from defeating an *already established* right to arbitrate. *Great W. Coal*, 312 S.C. at 563, 437 S.E.2d at 24–25. The Court held that a party should not escape arbitration simply by naming a non-party defendant alongside a signatory where the nonsignatory's connection to the agreement was not in genuine dispute. *Great Western* did not hold, and has never been read to hold, that a sprawling group of nonsignatories may compel arbitration without first proving that right exists. Nor did it say denied allegations in a complaint can support arbitration.

Nor does the record show the type of inequity which estoppel is designed to prevent. The Plaags tried to test Appellants' denials through targeted discovery. Foundations and Appellants objected rather than answer. R. pp. 212–15, 306–07. If there is any inequity in the record, it lies in allowing Appellants to compel arbitration on allegations they have labeled sanctionable while keeping the supporting facts hidden from discovery. The circuit court correctly refused to let equity be used “as a sword to compel arbitration.” R. p. 11 (citing *Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 345, 827 S.E.2d at 177).

2. The question is whether a contract was formed, not its scope.

Appellants also wish to convert this question from one of contract formation to one of contract scope. Appellants' Br. at 13–14, 23–24. They want to reframe this argument because (1) courts generally determine whether a claim falls within an agreement's scope by reference to the complaint's allegations, *Timmons v. Starkey*, 380 S.C. 590, 596, 671 S.E.2d 101, 105 (Ct. App. 2008), (2) parties can delegate scope questions to an arbitrator, and (3) scope questions fall under the now-outdated standard that claims fall within an arbitration agreement unless it can be said

otherwise with “positive assurance,” *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 597, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001). But their attempt to rewrite the question fails as a matter of law.

To start, Appellants’ argument is unpreserved. The circuit court found that the underlying question is whether a contract was ever formed between Appellants and the Plaags. R. pp. 9–10. Appellants did not argue that the question instead is one of scope in their motion to compel briefing, at the hearing, or in their Rule 59(e) motion. They just generically argued parties can delegate questions of arbitrability. *E.g.*, R. pp. 355–57. Their argument to this Court therefore is unpreserved. *Doe*, 369 S.C. at 375–76, 631 S.E.2d at 330.

In any event, the circuit court’s conclusion that the question of who can enforce an agreement is a question of existence, not scope, is correct.⁸ *E.g.*, *Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 337, 827 S.E.2d at 173 (distinguishing between questions of scope and “the identity of parties who may be bound by such an agreement”) (quoting *Carr v. Main Carr Dev., LLC*, 337 S.W.3d 489, 496 (Tex. Ct.

⁸ Appellants string cite cases allegedly holding that whether a non-signatory can enforce an agreement is a question of arbitrability rather than contract formation. Appellants’ Br. at 13–14. Missing from Appellants’ list are the binding South Carolina decisions cited here which deem this question to be one of formation. And the cited decisions (like Appellants) refer to this question more broadly as one of “arbitrability.” *Swiger v. Rosette*, 989 F.3d 501, 507 (6th Cir. 2021); *Eckert/Wordell Architects, Inc. v. FJM Props. of Willmar, LLC*, 756 F.3d 1098, 1100 (8th Cir. 2014); *Brittania-U Nigeria, Ltd. v. Chevron USA, Inc.*, 866 F.3d 709, 715 (5th Cir. 2017); *Contec Corp. v. Remote Sol., Co.*, 398 F.3d 205, 211 (2d Cir. 2005); *Apollo Comput. v. Berg*, 886 F.2d 469, 473 (1st Cir. 1989); *Fisher v. FCA US LLC*, 769 F. Supp. 3d 587, 604 (E.D. Mich. 2025); *Cunningham v. Ford Motor Co.*, No. 21-CV-10781, 2022 WL 2819115, at *6 (E.D. Mich. July 19, 2022); *DeAngelis v. Icon Ent. Grp.*, 364 F. Supp. 3d 787, 797 (S.D. Ohio 2019); *Rivera v. L-3 Commc’ns Corp.*, Case No. 8:09-cv-02447, 2010 WL 11629096, at *2 (M.D. Fla. May 24, 2010). Courts often use the term “arbitrability” generically without distinguishing between questions of scope and questions of formation. *Berkeley Cnty. Sch. Dist. v. HUB Int’l*, 363 F. Supp. 3d 632, 644–45 (D.S.C. 2019), *vacated and remanded on other grounds*, 944 F.3d 225 (4th Cir. 2019). And in the cases which Appellants cite, the courts did not ask whether this specific “arbitrability” question is one of formation which cannot be delegated in the first instance. Those cases therefore have no relevance here, where that is the operative question.

App. 2011)); *Weaver v. Brookdale Senior Living, Inc.*, 431 S.C. 223, 233–34, 847 S.E.2d 268, 274 (Ct. App. 2020) (“We conclude Appellants may not use equitable estoppel to bind Weaver to the arbitration provision. Because no valid arbitration agreement existed between Appellants and Weaver, we affirm the denial of the motion to compel arbitration.”); *Weckesser v. Knight Enters. S.E., LLC*, 735 F. App’x 816, 821 (4th Cir. 2018) (holding that “the question ‘who must arbitrate’ rather than ‘what must be arbitrated’” is one of contract existence and not scope); *Raymond James Fin. Servs. v. Cary*, 709 F.3d 382, 386 (4th Cir. 2013) (holding that whether the plaintiffs were “customers” who could enforce an arbitration agreement goes to existence and not scope); *see also Mey v. DIRECTV, LLC*, 971 F.3d 284, 304 (4th Cir. 2020) (Harris, J., dissenting) (“As this court has recognized on many occasions, the question of who is subject to an arbitration agreement goes to whether there is an agreement to arbitrate at all, rather than to the scope of any such agreement.”). A scope question assumes a valid arbitration agreement already binds the parties. Conversely, an existence question asks whether these parties agreed to arbitrate at all.

Going further, Appellants try to bypass the determination of the contract’s existence altogether. They argue the circuit court erred because it already found a valid arbitration agreement that “covers the exact same claims” and expressly contend that “[t]he existence or formation of an agreement to arbitrate is not at issue.” Appellants’ Br. at 1–2, 8–14. But the order found “*Foundations* has offered sufficient evidence that there is a valid and enforceable arbitration agreement between *Foundations* and the *Plaags* which covers this dispute.” R. p. 8 (emphasis added). As to Patel, the *Plaags* agreed that any order compelling arbitration for *Foundations* would extend to Patel. R. pp. 8–9. But an agreement with *Foundations* is not necessarily an agreement with Appellants. Appellants therefore had to prove they were parties to, or otherwise entitled to

enforce, Foundations' arbitration clause in the first place. Because Appellants must prove an agreement exists using admissible evidence, the circuit court properly required proof beyond denied allegations in the complaint.

3. Appellants' argument that the parties delegated the question presented to an arbitrator is unpreserved and wrong.

Appellants next say the arbitrator should have decided whether they can enforce Foundations' agreement because the contract delegates arbitrability questions, either by its general language or by incorporating AAA rules. Both delegation arguments fail.

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